No. 43172-6-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

Rex Pope,

Appellant.

Kitsap County Superior Court Cause No. 11-1-00729-2 The Honorable Judge Leila Mills

Appellant's Opening Brief

Jodi R. Backlund Manek R. Mistry Attorneys for Appellant

BACKLUND & MISTRY

P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870 backlundmistry@gmail.com

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Mr. Pope's convictions were entered in violation of his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to present his defense.
- 2. The trial court erred by denying Mr. Pope's motion for a continuance so his attorney could obtain medical records and consult with experts regarding Mr. Pope's Parkinson's disease.
- 3. The trial judge improperly commented on matters of fact, in violation of Wash. Const. Article IV, Section 16.
- 4. The trial court commented on matters of fact by instructing jurors to disregard Mr. Pope's physical symptoms, which were visible to them throughout trial.
- 5. The trial court erred by giving Instruction No. 13.
- 6. The court's instruction defining "substantial step" impermissibly relieved the state of its burden of establishing every element of attempted vehicle theft.
- 7. The court's instructions on attempted theft failed to make the relevant legal standard manifestly clear to the average juror.
- 8. Mr. Pope was denied his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel.
- 9. Defense counsel failed to investigate Mr. Pope's medical condition and its impact on his ability to give someone a bloody nose.
- 10. Defense counsel failed to assist Mr. Pope in making an informed decision whether to plead guilty or proceed to trial.

ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The constitution guarantees an accused person a meaningful opportunity to present his or her defense. Here, the trial judge refused Mr. Pope's request for a continuance to allow his attorney to obtain medical records, consult with experts, and secure the attendance of witnesses at trial. Did the trial judge

violate Mr. Pope's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to due process and to present a defense by unreasonably denying his request for a continuance?

- 2. A trial judge is absolutely prohibited from commenting on matters of fact, and any judicial comment is presumed to be prejudicial. In this case, the judge instructed jurors to disregard visible symptoms of Mr. Pope's illness. Did the trial judge's comment violate Mr. Pope's rights under Article IV, Section 16?
- 3. A conviction for attempt requires proof that the accused person took a "substantial step" toward commission of the crime charged; the phrase "substantial step" means "conduct strongly corroborative of the actor's criminal purpose..." Here, the court's instructions defined the phrase as "conduct that strongly indicates a criminal purpose..." Did the instruction relieve the prosecution of its burden to prove the elements of attempted theft beyond a reasonable doubt, in violation of Mr. Pope's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process?
- 4. The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments guarantee an accused person the effective assistance of counsel. In this case, defense counsel failed to adequately investigate a potential defense prior to Mr. Pope's trial. Was Mr. Pope denied his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel?

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS

Forty-six-year-old Rex Pope suffers from Parkinson's disease. He experiences pain, seizures, and muscle spasms; his movements are jerky and stiff, he has uncontrollable tremors, and his balance is unstable. These symptoms are most severe on his right side. Motion for New Trial (Exhibits A3, A9, A13), Supp. CP. In addition, he walks with what is referred to as a "Parkinsonian gait." Motion for New Trial (Exhibit A9), Supp. CP.

In September of 2011, he was charged with second-degree assault and attempted theft of a motor vehicle. CP 1-4. The prosecution alleged that he had punched a man named Laverne Hallsted while trying to steal his pick-up truck. CP 1-4. Trial was set for November 8, 2011. Minutes (9/12/11), Supp. CP.

Mr. Pope asked his attorney to obtain medical records and expert testimony regarding his physical abilities, with the goal of showing the jury that he could not have inflicted injuries and escaped in the manner alleged by Mr. Hallsted. RP (12/6/11 am) 4; RP (12/6/11 pm) 12. At a

3

¹ The state also alleged an aggravating factor of rapid recidivism on each offense. CP 1-4.

"trial call" on November 8, the court granted a continuance to December 6th. Minutes (11/8/11), Supp. CP; see also RP (12/6/11 am) 2.

By December 6th, defense counsel had still not been able to obtain medical records or speak with Mr. Pope's medical providers. He again asked that the trial be continued. The court denied this request, and the trial began that day with argument and rulings on preliminary matters. RP (12/6/11 am) 2-6; RP (12/6/11 pm) 4-9, 13-46.

From the outset, Mr. Pope planned not to testify in his own defense. RP (12/6/11 pm) 32-33. A major reason for this decision related to his symptoms: Mr. Pope shakes visibly and uncontrollably, and stress enhances the symptoms of Parkinson's. RP (12/6/11 pm) 14, 32-34. Mr. Pope wanted his attorney to provide information about Parkinson's disease to the jury for their consideration. Since his attorney hadn't secured the testimony of any of Mr. Pope's medical care providers, Mr. Pope brought a printout about the disease from the website of the Mayo Clinic. RP (12/6/11 pm) 32; Proposed Exhibit 8, Supp. CP. The state objected, and the court ruled the printout inadmissible. RP (12/6/11 pm) 32-43.

After these rulings, and in order to address Mr. Pope's visible shaking during trial, defense counsel asked that his client's symptoms be

² In addition, Mr. Pope has several convictions that may have been admitted in cross-examination.

explained to the jury. RP (12/6/11 pm) 40-43. The prosecutor agreed, but said he "would also like for the jury to be instructed that they should know this, but that fact is not evidence to be used by them in deliberations." RP (12/6/11 pm) 41. He wanted the court to tell jurors "that the fact that he suffers from Parkinson's is not evidence to be used by you in your deliberations." RP (12/6/11 pm) 42. The judge proposed the following language:

At Mr. Pope's request, I would like to inform you that he suffers from Parkinson's disease. This is not a fact in the case, but he has requested that this be conveyed to you so as to explain his visible symptoms of shaking.

RP (12/6/11 pm) 43.

Neither party objected.

Mr. Pope personally addressed the court the following morning, just before the start of voir dire. He asked the court to again consider providing jurors the information contained in his printout from the Mayo Clinic. RP (12/7/11 voir dire) 4-6. He expressed his concern about the "grave [injustice]" that might occur if jurors were not so informed. He also declared his attorney ineffective and again requested the trial be continued. RP (12/7/11 voir dire) 4-7. The court refused to consider the motion, and directed Mr. Pope to speak to his attorney. RP (12/7/11 voir dire) 7. During voir dire, jurors were instructed that Mr. Pope had

Parkinson's disease, but that this was "not a fact in the case." RP (12/7/11 voir dire) 10.

At trial, Laverne Hallsted testified when he went to his pick-up truck after work, he saw a man lying across the seat with his feet sticking out the open passenger door. RP (12/8/11) 95, 98. The man was using a short stick to hit at the ignition cover. RP (12/8/11) 99, 123. Hallsted addressed the man, who got up. RP (12/8/11) 99. According to Hallsted, the man punched him in the cheek with his right hand. RP (12/8/11) 99. Hallsted described the assault as a "hard" punch. RP (12/8/11) 114.

The two men struggled, and Hallsted tried to cut open the other man's cheek with his keys. RP (12/8/11) 101-102, 131. During the struggle, the man's bag opened and items fell onto the ground. RP (12/8/11)103. The man broke free and ran away. RP (12/8/11) 104-105.

Hallsted testified that he was a strong and healthy 57-year-old-man, that he often rides his bike to and from his job, and that he had recently finished not only the STP³ but also RAMROD,⁴ an extremely strenuous ride. RP (12/8/11) 100, 114, 128. He told the jury that while fleeing, the man ran "faster than I do". RP (12/8/11) 114.

³ The Seattle To Portland ride.

⁴ Ride Around Mount Rainier In One Day,

One of the items on the ground was a blister pack of medication with the name "Rex Pope" on it. RP (12/8/11) 109, 142-143. From a photo montage, Hallsted identified Mr. Pope as the man who had hit him. RP (12/8/11) 113, 150-154.

Once the evidence at trial had been concluded, the judge gave the jury the following instruction regarding attempt:

A substantial step is conduct which strongly indicates a criminal purpose and which is more than mere preparation. Instr. No. 13, Court's Instructions, Supp. CP.

The jury convicted Mr. Pope as charged.⁵ CP 5.

After trial, Mr. Pope sought a new attorney, arguing that defense counsel had not sufficiently investigated his defense or presented his case. Motion for Withdrawal and Substitution, Motion to Discharge Attorney, Supp. CP. The court allowed the withdrawal and assigned a new attorney. RP (1/13/12) 3-12. Later, at Mr. Pope's request, the court allowed him to represent himself. RP (2/24/12) 26-29.

Mr. Pope filed a motion for a new trial. Motion for New Trial, State's Response to CrR 7.5 Motion, Supp. CP. The motion was denied. RP (3/2/12) 32-45. He then filed a Motion for Reconsideration. See

7

⁵ The jury also returned "Yes" verdicts on the aggravators.

Motion for Reconsideration with Index, Motion for Reconsideration with Supporting Documents, Supp. CP. No action was taken on this motion.

At sentencing, the court declined to impose an aggravated sentence, and sentenced Mr. Pope within his agreed standard range. CP 5-15. Mr. Pope timely appealed. CP 16.

ARGUMENT

I. MR. POPE WAS DENIED HIS FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS AND HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO PRESENT A DEFENSE.

A. Standard of Review

A trial court's ruling denying a motion for continuance is ordinarily reviewed for an abuse of discretion; however, this discretion is subject to the requirements of the constitution. See, e.g., State v. Iniguez, 167 Wash.2d 273, 280-81, 217 P.3d 768 (2009). Accordingly, where the appellant makes a constitutional argument regarding the denial of a continuance, review is de novo. Id.

Constitutional error is presumed to be prejudicial, and the state bears the burden of proving harmlessness beyond a reasonable doubt.

⁶ A trial court abuses its discretion when its order is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds. State v. Depaz, 165 Wash.2d 842, 858, 204 P.3d 217 (2009). This includes reliance on unsupported facts, application of the wrong legal standard, or taking an erroneous view of the law. State v. Hudson, 150 Wash.App. 646, 652, 208 P.3d 1236 (2009).

State v. Watt, 160 Wash.2d 626, 635, 160 P.3d 640 (2007). Constitutional error is harmless only if it is "'trivial, or formal, or merely academic, and [is] not prejudicial to the substantial rights of the party assigning it, and in no way affected the final outcome of the case." State v. Koslowski, 166 Wash. 2d 409, 433, 209 P.3d 479 (2009) (Sanders, J., concurring) (quoting State v. Britton, 27 Wash.2d 336, 341, 178 P.2d 341 (1947)); see also City of Bellevue v. Lorang, 140 Wash.2d 19, 32, 992 P.2d 496 (2000). The state must show that any reasonable jury would reach the same result absent the error and that the untainted evidence is so overwhelming it necessarily leads to a finding of guilt. State v. Burke, 163 Wash.2d 204, 222, 181 P.3d 1 (2008).

B. Under the Fourteenth Amendment's due process clause, Mr. Pope was guaranteed a meaningful opportunity to present his defense.

A state may not "deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law..." U.S. Const. Amend. XIV. The due process clause (along with the Sixth Amendment right to compulsory process) guarantees criminal defendants a meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense. Holmes v. South Carolina, 547 U.S. 319, 324, 126 S. Ct. 1727, 164 L. Ed. 2d 503 (2006). An accused person must be allowed to present his version of the facts so that the fact-finder may decide where the truth lies. State v. Maupin, 128 Wash.2d 918, 924, 913

P.2d 808 (1996) Washington v. Texas, 388 U.S. 14, 19, 87 S.Ct. 1920, 18 L.Ed.2d 1019 (1967)); Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 294-95, 302, 93 S.Ct. 1038, 35 L.Ed.2d 297 (1973).

Trial continuances are governed by CrR 3.3. Under that rule, the court "may continue the trial date to a specified date when such continuance is required in the administration of justice and the defendant will not be prejudiced in the presentation of his or her defense." CrR 3.3(f)(2). Failure to grant a continuance may deprive a defendant of a fair trial. State v. Purdom, 106 Wash.2d 745, 725 P.2d 622 (1986); see also United States v. Flynt, 756 F.2d 1352 (9th Cir. 1985). Furthermore,

While efficient and expeditious administration is, of course, a most worth-while objective, the defendant's rights must not be overlooked in the process through overemphasis upon efficiency and conservation of the time of the court.

State v. Watson, 69 Wash.2d 645, 651, 419 P.2d 789 (1966).

Factors relevant to the trial court's decision on a continuance motion include the moving party's diligence, due process considerations, the need for orderly procedure, the possible impact on the trial, whether prior continuances have been granted, and whether the purpose of the

 $^{^7}$ See also State v. Oughton, 26 Wash. App. 74, 612 P.2d 812 (1980); State v. Hoggatt, 38 Wash. 2d 932, 234 P.2d 495 (1951).

motion was to delay the proceedings. State v. Bonisisio, 92 Wash.App. 783, 964 P.2d 1222 (1998).

For example, in Flynt, the defendant sought a continuance to enable him to consult with a psychiatrist in anticipation of presenting a diminished capacity defense to a contempt charge. Flynt, at 1356. The trial court refused the request, and the case proceeded to hearing without expert testimony. Flynt, at 1356-1357. The 9th Circuit Court of Appeals reversed the convictions, finding that

Flynt's only defense... was that he lacked the requisite mental capacity. The district court's denial of a continuance... effectively foreclosed Flynt from presenting that defense.

Flynt, at 1358.

C. The trial court infringed Mr. Pope's constitutional right to present a defense by denying his request for a continuance.

The trial court's refusal to grant a continuance prevented Mr. Pope from presenting evidence about his Parkinson's disease. The factors outlined above weighed in favor of granting the continuance; accordingly, the trial judge should have postponed the trial.

Diligence. The defense was diligent in its efforts to investigate Mr. Pope's defense.⁸ The first step in the investigation was to obtain Mr.

⁸ In the alternative, defense counsel failed to adequately investigate Mr. Pope's case, as outlined elsewhere in this brief.

Pope's medical records; counsel attempted to contact medical providers in advance of trial in order to acquire Mr. Pope's records.

Because the trial court denied Mr. Pope's continuance request, the trial concluded before the records were received by defense counsel.

Motion to Reconsider, Supp. CP. As can be seen, the records contained information that would have permitted defense counsel to consult with an expert—either one of Mr. Pope's treating physicians or an independent doctor—to testify about Mr. Pope's physical inability to punch someone with his right hand. Motion to Reconsider, Exhibits, Supp. CP.

Due process. Mr. Pope's planned defense hinged on undermining Hallsted's testimony. Hallstead claimed that his assailant punched him with his right hand with sufficient force to give him a bloody nose. RP (12/8/11) 99-100, 120, 131. Without testimony about the weakness in his right arm and the tremors from which he suffered, Mr. Pope was left unable to present his defense (except possibly through his own self-serving testimony). Accordingly, due process considerations supported the requested postponement.

Orderly procedure. Counsel's continuance request came during the "trial call" on December 6, 2011. Although the record does not

⁹ Mr. Pope elected not to testify because he was concerned that his tremors might be mistaken for nervousness stemming from a guilty conscience. RP (12/6/11 pm) 33.

contain an explanation of local procedure, a continuance requested by Mr. Pope during "trial call" a month earlier was granted. RP (12/6/11 am) 2. Jury selection did not commence until the following day. ¹⁰ RP (12/7/11 voir dire) 8.

The prosecutor did not raise any specific objection to the continuance, or indicate that witnesses would be unavailable if the trial were to be postponed. Instead, the prosecution's only specific comment was that Hallsted was "very interested in having this matter go to trial..." RP (12/6/11 am) 3.

Under these circumstances, Mr. Pope's continuance request would not have unduly interfered with the need for orderly procedure.

Prior continuances. The trial date had been reset only one time, from November 8 to December 6. Minutes (11/8/11), Supp. CP.

Impact on trial. The evidence sought would have had a significant impact on the trial. If defense counsel had been granted the time to obtain Mr. Pope's medical records and consult with an expert, he

whether a jury panel had already been assigned to Mr. Pope's trial, or if prospective jurors could be called off or diverted to another courtroom. RP (12/6/11 am) 2-6. Presumably such arrangements were possible, since Mr. Pope's case was set over during the previous month's "trial call" without apparent difficulty. RP (12/6/11 am) 2. The clerk's minutes for December 6 indicate that the court "sends [Mr. Pope's case] to trial today." Minutes (12/6/11), Supp. CP. The clerk's use of the active verb "sends" suggests that the court had to affirmatively direct that the trial commence. Similarly, the prosecutor indicated his preference that the case "go out." RP (12/6/11 am) 3.

would have been able to present testimony undermining Hallsted's version of events. Because Hallsted provided the only evidence outlining the interaction between himself and Mr. Pope, his testimony was critical to the prosecution.

Furthermore, Mr. Pope's decision not to testify was impacted by the lack of medical evidence explaining his condition to the jury. RP (12/6/11 pm) 33. Had the continuance been granted and expert testimony secured, Mr. Pope may well have provided the jury with his version of events.

Effort to delay. There was no indication that the continuance was sought in order to delay the proceedings. Mr. Pope was anxious to have his medical condition placed before the jury so they could evaluate Hallsted's version of the conflict. RP (12/6/11 pm) 3-12, 32-43; RP (12/7/11 voir dire) 4-7.

Indeed, Mr. Pope himself addressed the court on the afternoon of December 6th, expressing his fear that the court's denial of a continuance "would be a grave [injustice]." RP (12/6/11 pm) 5.

Conclusion. The denial of the continuance prevented Mr. Pope from presenting his only possible defense to the charge, in violation of his rights under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments. As in Flynt, the trial court's decision prejudiced Mr. Pope. Flynt, at 1358. The error cannot be

described as trivial, formal, or merely academic. Accordingly, his conviction must be reversed and his case remanded for a new trial. Flynt, at 1358.

II. THE TRIAL JUDGE COMMENTED ON MATTERS OF FACT, IN VIOLATION OF WASH. CONST. ARTICLE IV, SECTION 16.

A. Standard of Review

Alleged constitutional violations are reviewed de novo. Bellevue School Dist. v. E.S., 171 Wash.2d 695, 702, 257 P.3d 570 (2011). A manifest error affecting a constitutional right may be raised for the first time on review. RAP 2.5(a)(3); State v. Kirwin, 165 Wash.2d 818, 823, 203 P.3d 1044 (2009). A comment on the evidence "invades a fundamental right" and may be challenged for the first time on review under RAP 2.5(a)(3). State v. Becker, 132 Wash.2d 54, 64, 935 P.2d 1321 (1997).

A judicial comment is presumed prejudicial and is only harmless if the record affirmatively shows no prejudice could have resulted. State v. Levy, 156 Wash.2d 709, 725, 132 P.3d 1076 (2006). This is a higher standard than that normally applied to constitutional errors. Id.

15

¹¹ The court may also accept review of other issues argued for the first time on appeal, including constitutional errors that are not manifest. RAP 2.5(a); see State v. Russell, 171 Wash.2d 118, 122, 249 P.3d 604 (2011).

B. The trial judge improperly commented on matters of fact by instructing jurors to disregard Mr. Pope's visible symptoms.

Under Article IV, Section 16 of the Washington Constitution, "Judges shall not charge juries with respect to matters of fact, nor comment thereon, but shall declare the law." Wash. Const. Article IV, Section 16. In this case, the trial judge improperly commented on matters of fact, in violation of Article IV, Section 16.

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