NO. 43172-6-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON **DIVISION II**

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

REX POPE,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF KITSAP COUNTY, STATE OF WASHINGTON Superior Court No. 11-1-00729-2

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

RUSSELL D. HAUGE **Prosecuting Attorney**

RANDALL AVERY SUTTON **Deputy Prosecuting Attorney**

614 Division Street Port Orchard, WA 98366 (360) 337-7174

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED POPE'S SECOND REQUEST FOR A CONTINUANCE ON THE DAY OF TRIAL.

Pope argues that the trial court abused its discretion in denying his second motion to continue trial. This claim is without merit because Pope failed to justify not being ready for trial, and failed to show that allowing him further time would have produced any material evidence.

A criminal defendant is not entitled to a continuance as a matter of right. State v. Early, 70 Wn. App. 452, 853 P.2d 964 (1993), review denied, 123 Wn.2d 1004 (1994);. The trial court in exercising its discretion considers various factors including diligence, due process, the need for an orderly procedure, and the possible impact on the trial. Id. (citing 12 R. Ferguson, Wash. Prac., Criminal Practice and Procedure § 1901 (1984), at 361-62. It

may also consider whether prior continuances have been granted. *Id.* Denial of the motion will not be disturbed absent a showing that the defendant was prejudiced or that the result of the trial would likely have been different had the motion been granted.² *Id.*

Pope fails to show that he acted diligently. Counsel was appointed in mid-September. At the time of the *second* continuance motion in December, he failed to explain why he had been unable to obtain the records he sought. His only comment was that he had requested them, but that he had received them yet. There was no representation as to when they were requested, or what steps Pope had taken to follow up on his requests. RP (12/6 – J. Hartman) 3. Further, the original continuance was apparently granted for the same reason. RP (12/6 – J. Hartman) 2. Finally, Pope *did* obtain records from one of his medical providers. RP (12/6 – J. Hartman) 3. There is no record indication as to why that information was inadequate for Pope to present his purported defense, or why that provider was not called as a witness.

Further, the records request he filed with his post-trial motion indicates that he did not even request the records until after trial, on December 16, 2011. CP 34.

² Pope cites *State v. Iniguez*, 167 Wash.2d 273, 280-81, 217 P.3d 768 (2009), in support of his claim that review is *de novo*. That case was addressing a constitutional speedy-trial issue, however, and does not appear to overrule long-established precedent that denial of a continuance is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Id.*, at ¶ 10 ("Because Iniguez argues his

Pope's due process contention is without merit for the simple reason that he failed at trial or now to show how the procurement of additional records would have resulted in admissible exculpatory evidence. Washington courts have held that "failure to grant a continuance may deprive a defendant of a fair trial and due process of law, within the circumstances of a particular case." *State v. Williams*, 84 Wn.2d 853, 855, 529 P.2d 1088 (1975). Nevertheless, such a claim must establish prejudice:

[E]ven where the denial of a motion for continuance is alleged to have deprived a criminal defendant of his or her constitutional right to compulsory process, the decision to deny a continuance will be reversed only on a showing that the accused was prejudiced by the denial and/or that the result of the trial would likely have been different had the continuance not been denied.

State v. Tatum, 74 Wn. App. 81, 86, 871 P.2d 1123 (1994).

Here, Pope offered nothing to establish that the records he sought would demonstrate that his disability would have prevented him from engaging in the conduct of which he was accused. Nothing in the records he filed after trial establish that fact.

Indeed, the records reveal no indication that Pope had any symptoms other than shaking ("tremulus"), and that he was in "no acute distress." CP 36. Six months before the assault, his toes were tender due to gout, not his

constitutional speedy trial rights were violated, our review is de novo.").

Parkinson's. CP 38. There is no mention of gout in his exam in June, two months later. CP 35-36.

An August 2009 examination, while noting tremors, also observed that his "power is full." CP 96. It also noted that he walked with "good-sized steps," and that he only was in danger of falling when walking backwards. CP 96. In October of that year, he was again observed to walk fairly well. CP 97.

The remaining documentation is general, and not specific to Pope's particular condition. There is no expert evidence as to the degree of Pope's symptoms, or more importantly, as to whether he would be able, especially in an adrenalin/stress type of situation to punch someone and run away. These materials do indicate, however, that medication can reduce the symptoms. CP 53, 57-58, 61. Pope's June exam indicated that he had been off his medications for two years. CP 35. The chart indicates he is to take a number of medications. CP 36. At the time of the assault, the police recovered several bubble packets of his medications that he dropped. The obvious implication is that he had resumed taking his medications. During the pretrial hearing it was indicated that if he was timely taking his medications, his symptoms were alleviated to a large extent. RP (12/6 – J. Mills) 33-35.

Further, State's evidence was contrary to his claim. Hallsted testified that Pope struck him several times and then ran. Likewise, at the time of his arrest, Main observed Pope walk 200 yards without difficulty, and Pope had no difficulty complying with her command for him to kneel or putting his arms behind his back so she could cuff him. In short, Pope fails to establish by competent evidence that a continuance would have resulted in a different outcome at trial.

Pope argues that "the need for orderly procedure" was not a factor here, because the court could have continued the trial. However, the trial court's need to adhere to its trial schedule is a legitimate factor to be considered when deciding whether to grant or deny a continuance. See State v. Chichester, 141 Wn. App. 446, 454, 170 P.3d 583 (2007) (denial of continuance was not abuse of discretion as court could consider "orderly procedure in the setting of trials" and prefer maintaining a confirmed trial setting over prosecutor's scheduling conflicts); see also State v. Edwards, 68 Wn.2d 246, 257, 412 P.2d 747 (1966). Undoubtedly, the court could have continued the trial, but that is not the test. Absent compelling reasons to do so, the trial court was well within its discretion to determine that preventing a backlog of criminal cases, and further inconveniencing the prosecutor, the victim and the law-enforcement personnel, all of whom were ready for trial, was a valid consideration. This is so particularly where Pope had already

received one continuance, and had offered no explanation as to why he was unable to obtain his locally-available medical records in the nearly three months since he was arraigned.

In view of the foregoing, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in determining that further continuing the trial was not appropriate. Under these circumstances, Pope's reliance on *United States v. Flynt*, 756 F.2d 1352 (9th Cir. 1985), is misplaced. There, in a case involving use of summary contempt procedures, the defendant was allowed only three days to obtain psychiatric evaluations by witnesses that had actually been identified, and it was apparent from the defendant's in-court behavior that there was some question regarding his mental state. Here the defense had nearly three months to obtain his medical records, all of which were apparently locally available, and to find an expert (which to date has not been indentified) who would support his claim. The cases are not comparable. This claim should be rejected.

B. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMENT ON THE EVIDENCE, AND EVEN IF IT DID, ANY ERROR WOULD BE INVITED.

Pope next claims that the trial court erred in instructing the jury that Pope suffered from Parkinson's and that this was not a fact in the case. This claim is without merit because Pope requested that the jury be so instructed, agreed to the instruction given, and the instruction correctly stated the law that the only evidence to be considered was that presented through testimony or exhibits.

The invited error doctrine prohibits a party from setting up an error at trial and then complaining of it on appeal. *State v. Carter*, 127 Wn. App. 713, 716, 112 P.3d 561 (2005) (*citing State v. Studd*, 137 Wn.2d 533, 546-47, 973 P.2d 1049 (1999)). Specifically, a party cannot propose a jury instruction and then assign error to it on appeal. *State v. Elmore*, 139 Wn.2d 250, 280, 985 P.2d 289 (1999). This includes challenging the instruction as a comment on the evidence. *Id*.

While merely failing to object does not invite the error, Pope did more than fail to object. Pope specifically requested that the jury be informed of his condition, and twice specifically endorsed the instruction now complained of. *See State v. Smith*, 122 Wn. App. 294, 299, 93 P.3d 206 (2004), *rev. granted on other grounds*, 153 Wn.2d 1017 (2005).

Moreover, even were the alleged error not invited, it is not a comment on the evidence. Trial courts may not comment on the evidence. Const. art. IV, § 16. "An impermissible comment is one which conveys to the jury a judge's personal attitudes toward the merits of the case or allows the jury to infer from what the judge said or did not say that the judge personally

believed the testimony in question.' *State v. Swan*, 114 Wn.2d 613, 657, 790 P.2d 610 (1990), *cert. denied*, 498 U.S. 1046 (1991).

First, the comment is not *on* the evidence. As noted in one of the cases cited by Pope, "[b]y reciting his personal observations of [the witness] as she entered and left the witness stand, the deputy prosecutor improperly introduced evidence not presented at trial and not properly before the jury for consideration." *State v. Rafay*, 168 Wn. App. 734, ¶ 237, 285 P.3d 83 (2012). Pope asserts that this principal does not apply to the defense. He cites absolutely no authority for this startling proposition that a criminal defense attorney could properly argue facts not in evidence.

Secondly, the court properly noted that facts not presented to the jury via testimony or exhibit are not for the jurors consideration. WPIC 1.02 specifically provides:

The evidence is the testimony and the exhibits. The law is contained in my instructions to you. You must disregard any remark, statement, or argument that is not supported by the evidence or the law in my instructions.

The jury was given substantially that instruction in this case:

The evidence that you are to consider during your deliberations consists of the testimony that you have heard from witnesses and the exhibits that I have admitted during the trial.

State's Supp. CP (Instruction 1).³

Plainly the instruction that Pope sought, which was given in a form to which he agreed, was a correct statement of the law. This claim should be rejected.

C. THIS COURT HAS ALREADY REJECTED POPE'S UNPRESERVED CLAIMS THAT THE DEFINITIONAL INSTRUCTIONS FOR ATTEMPT WERE INADEQUATE.

Pope next claims that the trial court erred in the instruction defining "substantial step." This claim is without merit because Pope did not object at trial, and a challenge to a definitional instruction may not be raised for the first time on appeal. Moreover, the instruction correctly stated the law, and any error would be harmless.

In *State v. Gordon*, 172 Wn.2d 671, ¶ 13, 260 P.3d 884 (2011), the Supreme Court determined that definitional instructions could not be challenged on that basis for the first time on appeal: "Further elaboration in the instructions would have been in the vein of definitional terms, and the omission of such definitions is not an error of constitutional magnitude satisfying the RAP 2.5(a) standard." Further, a definitional instruction that is

³ In his brief, Pope cites to the defendant's Supplemental Clerk's Papers, but he appears to have overlooked including the instructions his supplemental request.

incomplete may also not be raised for the first time on appeal. State v. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, ¶¶ 23-24, 217 P.3d 756 (2009).

Here, the court instructed the jury that to find Pope guilty of attempted theft of a motor vehicle, it had to find the following elements beyond a reasonable doubt:

- (1) That on or about August 8th, 2011, the defendant did an act which was a substantial step toward the commission of theft of a motor vehicle.
- (2) That the act was done with intent to commit theft of a motor vehicle; and
- (3) That the acts occurred in the State of Washington.

State's Supp. CP (Instruction 14). This instruction sets forth each of the elements of attempted theft of a motor vehicle. *See State v. DeRyke*, 149 Wn.2d 906, 910, 73 P.3d 1000 (2003) (attempted crime involves two elements: the intent to commit a specific crime and the taking of a substantial step toward its commission); WPIC 100.02.

Pope nevertheless argues that the instructions were deficient, first, because the instruction defining substantial step, which tracks WPIC 100.05 states that a substantial step is "is conduct that strongly indicates a criminal purpose and that is more than mere preparation." State's Supp CP (Instruction 13), instead of quoting *State v. Workman*, 90 Wash.2d 443, 451, 584 P.2d 382 (1978) (to be a substantial step, an act "must be strongly corroborative of the actor's criminal purpose"). He also argues that because

(definitional) Instruction 13 requires only that the conduct indicate a criminal purpose, rather than *the* criminal purpose, the instruction is flawed, citing *State v. Roberts*, 142 Wn.2d 471, 513, 14 P.3d 713 (2000) and *State v. Cronin*, 142 Wn.2d 568, 14 P.3d 752 (2000).

This court rejected these contentions last year, however:

Regardless of *Roberts* and *Cronin* and the language difference between WPIC 100.05 and Workman, Eplett's arguments are flawed because Eplett reads jury instruction 7 in isolation. It is well settled that we must read jury instructions together, as a whole. State v. Teal, 117 Wn. App. 831, 837, 73 P.3d 402 (2003) (citing State v. Haack, 88 Wn. App. 423, 427, 958 P.2d 1001 (1997), review denied, 134 Wash.2d 1016 (1998)), aff'd, 152 Wn.2d 333 (2004). And when read with jury instruction 5, which provides, "A person commits the crime of attempted rape of a child in the second degree when, with intent to commit that crime, he or she does any act that is a substantial step toward the commission of that crime," the two instructions clearly require the jury to find that there was evidence demonstrating that Eplett took a substantial step toward committing the charged offense. CP at 61 (emphasis added).

State v. Eplett, 167 Wn. App. 660, ¶ 14, 274 P.3d 401 (2012) (emphasis the Court's). In addition to Instruction 13, and in addition to the correct to-convict instruction quoted above, Instruction 12 provided:

A person commits the crime of Attempted Theft of a Motor Vehicle when, with intent to commit *that* crime, he does any act which is a substantial toward the commission *that* crime.

(Emphasis supplied). This case is indistinguishable from Eplett.

Finally, any error would be harmless. When Hallsted came upon

Pope he had broken into Halsted's truck and was in the process of smashing the ignition lock with a chunk of wood. The jury was shown the pictures of the smashed ignition housing. Officer Main testified that in her experience, the damage was consistent an attempt to steal the truck. This claim should be rejected.

D. POPE FAILS TO MEET HIS BURDEN OF ESTABLISHING INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

Pope next claims that counsel was ineffective for failing to adequately investigate the case. This claim is without merit because the record on appeal demonstrates neither deficient performance nor prejudice.

In order to overcome the strong presumption of effectiveness that applies to counsel's representation, a defendant bears the burden of demonstrating both deficient performance and prejudice. *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 334-35, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995); *see also Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984). If either part of the test is not satisfied, the inquiry need go no further. *State v. Lord*, 117 Wn.2d 829, 894, 822 P.2d 177 (1991), *cert. denied*, 506 U.S. 856 (1992).

The performance prong of the test is deferential to counsel: the reviewing court presumes that the defendant was properly represented. *Lord*,

117 Wn.2d at 883; *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688-89. It must make every effort to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight and must strongly presume that counsel's conduct constituted sound trial strategy. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689; *In re Rice*, 118 Wn.2d 876, 888-89, 828 P.2d 1086 (1992). "Deficient performance is not shown by matters that go to trial strategy or tactics." *State v. Hendrickson*, 129 Wn.2d 61, 78, 917 P.2d 563 (1996).

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